
 1 

Monday, April 28, 2025 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
BRIDGPEORT BOARD OF EDUCATION, held April 28, 
2025, at Harding High School, 379 Bond Street, 
Bridgeport, Connecticut. 

Present were chair Jennifer Perez, Vice Chair Joseph 
Sokolovic, Secretary Albert Benejan Grajales**, Willie 
Medina, Maritza Estremera Jimenez, Akisha Cassermere*, 
Robert Traber, and Andre Woodson*.  Christine Baptiste-
Perez* joined subsequently as noted. 

*remote participation **began the meeting remote and 
subsequently arrived in person as noted. 

 Interim Supt.  Dr. Royce Avery was present. 

The meeting was called to order at 6:34 p.m. 

STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE REPORTS: 

Christian Bica of Central High reported on his school.  
Among the items he highlighted were the end of SAT 
testing; upcoming NGSS testing and AP exams; the junior 
ring dance; spring sports; a school cleanup; and a visit by 
some students to Vassar College.   

Aryan Lachman of Harding reported on his school.  Among 
the items he highlighted were visits to UB’s cadaver lab; a 
class vs. class event; upcoming AP exams; preparation for 



 2 

the annual health and wellness fair; and a record number 
of students accepted into the University of Connecticut. 

Tawaab Agrignan of the Biotech School at Fairchild 
Wheeler highlighted Earth Day events; NGSS testing; a 
fundraiser; and the upcoming prom. 

Jeronimo Restrepo of the IT School at Fairchild Wheeler 
highlighted a bootcamp on the NGSS testing; course 
selection for next year; the May 1st prom in New Haven; 
and three students who won computing awards.   

Chanoy Clarke of Bassick High highlighted Spirit Week; a 
visit to Sacred Heart University by Today’s Students, 
Tomorrow’s Teachers; the completion of SAT and PSAT 
exams; and upcoming NGSS assessments and AP exams.    

Ashley Beckford of the Aerospace School at Fairchild 
Wheeler highlighted student-led tours of the school, the 
fight simulator, a student trip to UConn in Storrs; and a 
career day tomorrow.  

PUBLIC COMMENT: 
Jeff Morrissey, president of the BEA, said we have been 
following the budget discussions with increasing dismay.  
He said there is longstanding inadequate funding from the 
state and the city.  He said the cuts represent actual 
human beings and children who will lose instruction in art 
and music and in other ways.  He said the BEA will 



 3 

continue to protect contractual language related to 
planning time and class sizes.  

Dr. Sarah-Jane Henry, director of performing and visual 
arts, said financial cuts to the department would have far-
reaching consequences, including limiting opportunities for 
students.  She said the district has had multiple students 
who have graduated and gone on to careers in the arts, 
including teaching, received Emmys, professional 
photographers, graphic designers, and working with 
famous artists.  

Mr. Benejan Grajales arrived at the meeting in person. 

Faith Harrison Villegas of the Bridgeport Public Education 
Fund said she and her children graduated from the 
district’s schools. She said it has been a challenging year 
in funding schools and ensuring the future of the children.  
She invited everyone to the 31st Inspiration Awards event.   

Aaron Newcome, a Central High teacher, said the district’s 
teacher attendance policy allows meetings and warnings 
with teaches, although the collective bargaining 
agreement allows for fifteen sick and four personal days.  
He said the effect of the policy is to reduce the yearly PTO 
days from nineteen to five. He said a teacher who 
accumulates 370 sick days in a career will only receive 
compensation for 200 of them when they retire.   



 4 

Giovanna Ramos, principal of Thomas Hooker School, 
said counselors and kindergarten paras always seem to 
be on the chopping block.  She said the elimination of her 
assistant principal will leave her school the only pre-K to 8 
school without an assistant principal.  She said every 
single service provider in her school is part time.  

Jennifer Gilbert, a special education teacher at BLC, 
described the issues that children come to school with.  
She said the schools are safety nets for children and the 
budget cuts are hurting kids. 

Jeremie Hittenmark, assistant principal at Thomas Hooker 
School, said chronic underfunding and understaffing long 
predates Covid. He said it is no achievement to return to 
pre-Covid staffing levels, when student success rates were 
unacceptable. He noted the lack of a fulltime nurse, and 
social worker in his school and described the effects of 
budget cuts.  He urged the board members to visit schools 
to see how many being held together by duct tape, 
goodwill, and the shared grit of educators. 

Takayla Thomas, a Bridgeport native, described the effect 
of arts on her education and her family.   She said she has 
been an educator in health, art, and dance at Marin 
School since 2001.  

Mr. Traber said Senate Bill 1511, which would have meant 
$20 million for the district, is dead and gone.  Additional 



 5 

provisions would have provided a total of $57 million more. 
He said the final appropriations budget last week includes 
additional money for special education and it means 
nothing good for us. He said everyone should speak to 
their state representatives and senators about this.  He 
added that there is not a single board member who wants 
to implement a single cut that has been addressed tonight. 

 

APPROVAL OF BOARD MINUTES: 
Mr. Benejan Grajales moved to approve the minutes of the 
Regular Meeting of March 24, 2025. The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Traber and unanimously approved, 

Mr. Benejan Grajales moved to approve the minutes of the 
Special Meeting of March 31, 2025.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Medina and unanimously approved. 

Mr. Benejan Grajales moved to approve the minutes of the 
Special Meeting of April 7, 2025.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Traber.  The motion was approved by a 
7-0 vote.  Voting in favor were members Perez, Traber, 
Medina, Cassermere, Woodson, Benejan Grajales, and 
Estremera Jimenez.  Mr. Sokolovic abstained. 

CHAIR REPORT: 
 s.  Perez said four of the mandated board trainings have 
been completed; the most recent of which was on finance.  



 6 

The meetings have been hosted by CABE.  She said the 
next meeting for training will be on May 19th. 

Ms. Perez said the board wanted to honor Mr. Rapice for 
his projects with poet laureates, Words on Wheels, and 
middle school debate and thank him for his work.  

Senavene Wilson, the 2025 poet laureate for the district, 
was recognized. Students who received honorable 
mention were also recognized.  

Ms. Wilson read her poem, “You Cannot Stop Us Now.” 

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said the 
Commissioner of Education will visit the district for the first 
time on Wednesday to meet with himself and the 
executive cabinet.  Ms. Perez said she had not heard back 
yet from the commissioner on her request for a meeting.  

Mr. Benejan Grajales said the city lost a champion, Jay 
Piccirillo, who often helped him with parents.  here was a 
moment of silence for Mr. Piccirillo and the mom of 
Bassick PTSO president, Mr. Achola. 

COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
Ms. Perez said the Finance Committee met on April 10th 
and additional budget cuts were discussed that are on 
tonight’s agenda.   

Mr. Traber said the Instruction and Support Services 
Committee had an excellent meeting last week.  There 



 7 

was discussion on suspension rates for special education 
students and black males. PAC/PTSO expenditures and 
procedures were also covered. He thanked Dr. Faga for 
her participation in those discussions. He said there was 
also a great discussion on academic progress reports.    

Mr. Benejan Grajales referred an update on the 
suspension rate of special education students.   

Mr. Medina said the Policy and Personnel Committee met 
on April 9th, and several polices were tackled, including 
items on tonight’s agenda.  He said CABE provided about 
twenty policies that are mandated by the state. He said 
there are another twenty-plus policies to be handled at the 
committee. 

Ms. Estremera Jimenez referred an item on contracts.   

Ms. Perez said the Facilities Committee met on April 1st.  
The facilities master plan was discussed and there was an 
update on the decommissioning of Bassick High. She said 
there was an operational update on vandalism. 

Mr. Sokolovic said CABE was in the planning stage for the 
November 18th convention. He said the board had to 
decide whether to incur the expense of rooms in lean 
times. 

SUPERINTENDENT REPORT AND AGENDA: 



 8 

Dr. Avery said he wanted to acknowledge the concerns 
raised during public comment and in the community 
regarding the financial situation of the district. He said he 
wanted to let everyone know that he hears them, and he 
agrees that the situation is not ideal, and that our students 
and staff deserve more.   

Dr. Avery said he would provide a full comprehensive 
update on six-month plan at the next meeting.   

Dr. Avery said the City Council budget meeting is on May 
1st. He said the mayor’s proposed budget has an 
additional $3 million for education; while we are grateful, it 
is not enough. He urged there be advocacy for additional 
dollars. 

Dr. Avery said there will be a middle-school cheerleading 
showcase on May 1st at Central High. He said on May 8th 
he will accompany several high school students to 
Hartford for student advocacy, along with other urban 
school districts.  It is hoped to have a conversation with 
the governor as well. 

Dr. Avery said there will be a public forum at Trumbull 
Gardens on May 9th. The district talent show will take 
place on May 29th. 

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said he has had 
conversations with board members about creating a 



 9 

priority list in the event that the district receives additional 
funding. 

Mr. Sokolovic said in the past the board has ranked items 
so the superintendent can act without having to come 
back to the board.  

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said the brand-new 
website will be unveiled, but content is now being 
transferred to the new site. He said release has been 
delayed from January-February in order to update the 
content. He said parents who cannot obtain information 
from the website should contact his office.  

Mr. Benejan Grajales said he would like to hear an update 
from the grants department. He thanked Dr. Henry for her 
amazing work and for helping the Bassick PTSO. 

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said there will be a 
Bridgeport Day in Hartford on May 19th for advocacy.   

Mr. Sokolovic said it would behoove We Transport to help 
us advocate for more money by helping with transport to 
Hartford.    

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said the students 
traveling to Hartford are being recruited by the student 
representatives to the board, and recommendations by 
principals will be used if necessary. He said administrators 
will act as chaperones.  



 10 

Ms. Cassermere said she hoped board members would be 
asked to purchase tickets for the upcoming talent shows at 
$25.02 and not expect to get in free. 

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said he would get an 
answer from Ms. Clarke for Ms. Cassermere on the 
board’s foundation.  

NEW BUSINESS: 
The next agenda item was on High Horizons Magnet 
School’s field trip to Washington, D.C. from June 3 to June 
6, 2025. 

Mr. Traber said the item came through his committee. He 
moved “to approve the High Horizons Magnet School’s 
out-of-state field trip to Washington, D.C., June 3 to June 
6, 2025.” The motion was seconded by Mr. Medina. 

Mr. Traber said it was fully vetted in committee and all i’s 
were dotted and t’s were crossed. 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on the Interdistrict Discovery 
Magnet School’s out-of-state field trip to Washington, D.C., 
May 14th through the 16th.   

Mr. Traber said the matter came through his committee.  
He moved “the approval of the Interdistrict Discovery 
Magnet School’s out-of-state field trip to Washington, D.C., 



 11 

May 14th through 16th, 2025.”  The motion was seconded 
by Mr. Benejan Grajales. 

Mr. Traber said it was reviewed in depth in the committee 
and all i’s were dotted and t’s were crossed. 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on the Interdistrict Discovery 
Magnet School’s overnight field trip to the Outdoor 
Classroom at Lakeside, Connecticut, May 14th through 
the 16th. 

Mr. Traber said it went through his committee. He moved 
“to approve Interdistrict Discovery Magnet School’s 
overnight field trip to the Outdoor Classroom in Lakeside, 
Connecticut, May 14th through the 16th, 2025.”  The 
motion was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales. 

Mr. Traber said the paperwork is in proper form and all i’s 
were dotted and t’s were crossed. 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on the library refresh to 
purchase and subscribe to online resources.  Ms. Perez 
said this is a grant-funded program.    

Mr. Traber moved “to approve the library refresh to 
purchase and subscribe to the online resources.”  The 
motion was seconded by Mr. Medina and unanimously 
approved. 



 12 

 

The next agenda item was on filing FCC Form 471, 
Schools and Libraries Universal.  Jeff Postolowski, director 
of ITS, said this was the normal, annual renewal of the 
FCC filing for E-Rate, which is the program that pays the 
lion’s share of internet services and equipment that 
provides that.   

Mr. Traber moved to approve the resolution as stated, “Be 
it resolved that the governing board for Bridgeport School 
District; (1) authorizes the filing of FCC Form 471, Schools 
and Libraries Universal Service Program services ordered 
for the fiscal year 07/01/2025 through 6/20/2026.  And (2) 
authorizes payment of the applicant’s share subject to the 
following conditions: (1) approval of funding of the 
discounted portion of the Schools and Libraries Division 
(SLD) of the Universal Service Administrative Company 
(USAC) and (2) receipt of the services during the fiscal 
year 07/01/2025 to 06/30/2026.”   

The motion was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and 
unanimously approved, 

The next agenda item was the approval to authorize the 
Healthy Food Certification application for fiscal year 2025-
26. 

 



 13 

Mr. Traber moved “Pursuant to Connecticut General 
Statutes Section 10-215f, Food and Nutrition Services, 
Bridgeport Public Schools certifies that all food items 
offered for sale to students in the schools under its 
jurisdiction, and not exempt from the Connecticut Nutrition 
Standards published by the Connecticut State Department 
of Education, will comply with the Connecticut Nutrition 
Standards during the period of July 1, 2025, through June 
30, 2064. This certification shall include all food offered for 
sale to students separately from reimbursable meals at all 
times and from all sources, including but not limited to 
school stores, vending machines, school cafeterias, 
culinary programs, and any fundraising activities on school 
premises sponsored by the school or non-school 
organizations and groups.”   

The motion was seconded by Mr. Sokolovic and 
unanimously approved. 

Mr. Traber moved that “the Food and Nutrition Services, 
Bridgeport Public Schools, will allow the sale to students 
of food items that do not meet the Connecticut Nutrition 
Standards and beverages not listed in Section 10-221q of 
the Connecticut General Statutes provided that the 
following conditions are met: (1) the sale is in connection 
with an event occurring after the end of the regular school 
day or on the weekend; (2) the sale is at the location of the 
event; and (3) the food and beverage items are not sold 



 14 

from a vending machine or school store. An ‘event’ is an 
occurrence that involves more than just a regular school 
practice, meeting or extracurricular activity. For example, 
soccer games, school plays, and interscholastic debates 
are events, but soccer practices, play rehearsals, and 
debate team meetings are not. The ‘regular school day’ is 
the period from midnight before to 30 minutes after the 
end of the official school day. ‘Location’ means where the 
event is being held and must be at the same place as the 
food and beverage sales.” 

The motion was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and 
unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on approval of a workers’ 
compensation settlement agreement.  Ms. Perez said 
invited to participate were Dr. Avery and Atty. Christine 
Yeomans. 

Mr. Benejan Grajales moved “to go into executive 
session.”  The motion was seconded by Mr. Sokolovic and 
unanimously approved. 

The executive session began at 8:03 pm. 

The board reconvened in public session at 8:38 p.m.   

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to authorize the attorney to enter 
into the settlement agreement for the workers’ 
compensation case as discussed in executive session.”  



 15 

The motion was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and 
unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on the graduation venue.  Dr. 
Avery summarized the various options.  The Amphitheater, 
$40,000, June 16th or 17th; Kennedy Stadium, $3,000 on 
June 13th; mixed venues on June 13th, $3655, and at the 
Klein June 10th, for a total cost $7,132. 

Tim Grasty described options that were explored, including 
Sacred Heart University. 

There was a discussion of the negotiations with venues, 
including fees that would have to be paid, and the 
available dates. Mr. Grasty said the sheet provided to the 
board included other venues contacted, including 
universities and the Total Mortgage Arena.  

Mr. Traer said he was appalled that athletic events were 
pushed out of Seaside Park to accommodate the owners 
of the Amphitheater and that they can’t come up with a 
free donation of the venue for graduation. 

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to utilize Kennedy Stadium at 
Central High for graduation in 2025.”  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Traber and approved by a 6-0 vote.  
Voting in favor were members Perez, Sokolovic, Benejan 
Grajales, Woodson, and Traber.  Members Medina and 
Cassermere abstained. 

 



 16 

The next agenda item was on the board goals established 
during March 31st training.  Ms. Perez said the board 
goals would be used to flesh out the district goals that we 
want to work with Dr. Avery on 

Mr. Traber moved “to approve the goals.”  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and unanimously 
approved. 

The next agenda item was on implementing a calendar to 
implement mandated policies. Ms. Perez said this was 
discussed in the Policy and Personnel Committee.  Mr. 
Medina said the deadline for state-mandated policies was 
June 6th to be prepared for the full board at the June 9th 
meeting. 

Mr. Medina moved “to approve the calendar.”  The motion 
was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and unanimously 
approved. 

The next agenda item was on the second read of policies 
on alcohol use, drugs and tobacco, P5131, and the 
nondiscrimination policy. 

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to approve the second read of the 
alcohol use, drugs, and tobacco policy, P5131, and the 
nondiscrimination policy.”   

 



 17 

Mr. Sokolovic said these polices are state-mandated, are 
boilerplate, and were presented to us by CABE.  He said 
they have been thoroughly vetted and approved in 
committee.  He suggested the board approve them as 
presented because there’s nothing we can change. 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was to suspend bylaw 9310 for the 
purpose immediate implementation of the following 
policies: restorative practices, FASA completion program, 
gifted and talented students, preschool special education, 
duty-free lunch, physical exercise and discipline; and 
health education program. 

Mr. Medina moved “to suspend the bylaws."  The motion 
was seconded by Mr. Benejan Grajales and unanimously 
approved. 

Mr. Sokolovic requested the superintendent get these on 
the website immediately, so they don’t get lost.  

Mr. Medina moved “to approve Restorative Practices, 
P5155.12(a); FAFSA Completion Program P6148(b); 
P6172.1(a); P61717.2(b); P4113.12; P5144.4(a) and 
P6142.10 to the full board for approval for immediate 
implementation.”  The motion was seconded by Mr. 
Sokolovic. 

 



 18 

Mr. Medina said these are state mandates, which were 
presented by CABE, that we went through at committee. 

The motion was unanimously approved. 

The next agenda item was on additional eliminations to 
reduce budgetary needs for fiscal year 2025-26. 

Mr. Nkwo said there was still a $30 million budget gap.  He 
said some options were amended with Dr. Avery.  The 
state special education increase in reimbursement to 
municipalities line was changed because the state budget 
and appropriations committee proposed $124 million 
statewide to help all towns. He said it translates to about 
$5.8 million to Bridgeport, which is contingent upon the 
legislature moving it forward and approval of the governor.  

Mr. Nkwo said Dr. Avery’s contact with union leaders was 
not a fruitful conversation, so the savings projected are not 
attainable. 

Mr. Nkwo said Item 14, the elimination of five central office 
positions, has been increased to between eight and ten, 
for a total $985,000. Item 26 originally called for the 
elimination of 40 teaching positions, and that has to be 
changed to a more attainable number of 28.   

Mr. Nkwo said assuming the board approves all the gap-
closing measures it will total $28 million. He said $7 million 
of the Internal Service Fund (ISF) is being used to balance 
next year’s budget, which is a one-time revenue and will 



 19 

lead to a $7 million hole in the 2027 budget, which will also 
contain cost-of-living increases of $12 million to $14 
million. He noted the state’s biannual budget does not 
have an increase for Bridgeport in 2027 over 2026. 

Mr. Sokolovic said a structural deficit has been a fact of life 
since 2018.  He said we’re talking about kids, so spending 
out of the ISF will save kids in front of us right now. He 
described the proposed cuts as draconian. He said our 
schools needed to be adequately funded. He said he 
would be the first one to defend Mr. Nkwo in 2027 if Gov. 
Lamont and Mayor Ganim continue to underfund the 
district and hurt our children.   

In response to a question, Mr. Nkwo said $22 million is 
proposed to be used in this year’s budget out of the ISF, 
with $7 million used next year.   

In response to a question, Mr. Nkwo said there is $34.4 
million in the ISF currently. He said $22 million will be used 
to balance the current year’s budget.  He described the 
projected use of the ISF in the future. 

Mr. Traber said we now have the most up-to-date 
information when we go to the city on Thursday and when 
we talk with the state reps and senators.  He said the total 
state Rainy Day Fund was now $6 billion. He said Donald 
Trump has been a convenient excuse not to deal with the 
problems in the poor communities. He said they’re not 



 20 

dealing with the impact of parity on education and the 
failure to raise the ECS formula. He said ECS is being 
expanded to 80 districts, although they were scheduled to 
be phased out of ECS because they were financially 
secure already.  

Mr. Traber said the teachers in Bridgeport are teaching for 
less money than every community around us, including 
$15,000 less than Stratford.  He said these are people 
committed to the children of our district. 

In response to a question, Mr. Nkwo said we have to 
survive 2027 first before he can project the 2028 deficit.  

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said the union leaders 
indicated to him that concessions were not a viable option.    

Mr. Benejan Grajales said the situation stresses him out 
badly. He said the board members did not have a choice 
but to save money. He said the students will be suffering. 
He said he took his hat off to the staff, who earn less than 
they can in other districts.  He said he was glad the people 
from the state were here so they can see what Bridgeport 
is going through and what we need. He said he can 
imagine how the staff feels wondering if they’re going to 
have a job. 

Mr. Medina said that we have to sound the alarm.  He said 
the ECS formula has not increased over the last 13 years 
when costs have increased. He said the state has been 



 21 

holding $5 billion in the Rainy Day Fund and we are being 
pushed to the side, while every election has been winning 
elections because of Bridgeport voters. He said the 
speakers came here respectfully and powerfully and 
nailed every single fact. He said the state needs to hear 
our voice.   

In response to a question about bringing special education 
students back into the district, Mr. Nkwo said that was 
premature because the district has to build a special 
education school. Dr. Avery said we’re looking at 
opportunities to bring kids back into the district, but you 
have to look at each individual student in a PPT.  
Returning a child to the district requires a mutual decision 
between the parents and the district.  

Mr. Woodson said from discussions at Waltersville and 
with CABE, they’re expecting us to do this stuff.  He said 
he did not believe there is a district in the state spending 
30 percent of its budget on special education.  He said he 
blames that on the leadership. Ms. Perez said there is a 
line item for $2.5 million in savings.  

Ms. Estremera Jimenez said she was very disheartened 
tonight, particularly since there will be similar issues in 
2027.  She said she wanted to help education for kids and 
increase the amount of resources they have, and she has 
to help do the exact opposite. She urged advocacy with 



 22 

the state and the city because we’re stripping almost 
everything out of our district tonight.   

Mr. Sokolovic said he agreed there was a need to save 
money on special education costs, but nearly every large 
district is at about the same percentage of special 
education costs.  

In response to a question about grants, Dr. Avery said a lot 
of the grants the district submitted were federal grants and 
they are on hold. Ms. Cassermere requested an update 
from Nadira Clarke on the Philanthropy Digest e-mails she 
receives. Dr. Avery said she would have Ms. Clarke 
prepare a report on grants for the board.  

Ms. Cassermere asked if a capital campaign for the district 
was feasible. Dr. Avery said he was not familiar with it in 
his experience with school districts.  Ms. Cassermere 
suggested Ms. Clarke be consulted. 

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said it was not 
inappropriate for district parents to request companies 
they work for to provide grants to the district.  Ms. 
Cassermere said there may be grant opportunities at 
places of employment. 

Mr. Traber said he discussed special education schools 
with Senator Wilcox. He said if we can save $2.5 million, 
that would be impressive. He said all districts are in the 
same boat on special education. He said the soonest we 



 23 

can get a new facility is four or five years away, so it is not 
in the realm of the current budget.   

Mr. Traber said Mr. Nkwo indicated we need $30 million to 
balance the budget, but our goal must be to get more than 
that. He said SB1511 would have given Bridgeport $57.2 
million.  

Mr. Woodson said we need to take into consideration Mr. 
Nkwo’s projections into future years down the line.  He 
said we need to get smarter and be thinking down the line.   

In response to a question on library/media specialists, Ms. 
Perez said it would mean the elimination of all those 
positions. 

Mr. Traber said he is not begging for funding as said by 
Mr. Wodson and Ms. Baptiste-Perez, but he is advocating 
for the people of Bridgeport. He said what he is doing 
should not be categorized as begging.  He said people are 
paid a lot of money to go to Hartford and advocate for 
different causes, but we’re doing it for free.  He said when 
the five urban superintendents and mayors went to 
Hartford they weren’t begging. 

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to add a line on the revenue 
increase stating the board approved an additional $2.5 
million withdrawal from the Internal Service Fund.”  The 
motion was seconded by Mr. Medina.   

 



 24 

Mr. Sokolovic said it would give us a little bit more of a 
cushion because some of the numbers don’t seem stable 
and are overly optimistic. He said the $2.5 million savings 
in special education cannot be counted on.  

The motion was approved by a 6-1 vote. Voting in favor 
were members Perez, Sokolovic, Benejan Grajales, 
Medina, Traber, and Estremera Jiminez.  Mr. Woodson 
was opposed. Ms. Cassermere abstained. 

Mr. Woodson said he heard words like assimilation that 
you can’t use to run a multimillion-dollar business. 

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to eliminate the 2-to-1 kindergarten 
paraprofessionals that were funded through Delta T that 
were reinstated through ESSER funds that have expired 
for a savings of $1.327 million.”  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Medina. 

Mr. Sokolovic said unfortunately he has to recommend 
that we approve this because we need to get to the zero 
amount. He said it could be ranked as high or low as we 
want to bring it back in the case of more funding.  He said 
that each and every position we’re going to be talking 
about is an important job and the services we are about to 
cut are very important.   

There was a discussion on whether to proceed through 
the budget items line by line or not. 



 25 

The motion was approved by 6-2 vote.  Voting in favor 
were members Perez, Sokolovic, Medina, Estremera 
Jimenez, and Woodson.  Members Cassermere and 
Benejan Grajales were opposed. 

Mr. Sokolovic moved “to approve the entirety of Lines 3 
through 26 as presented by Mr. Nkwo on the budget 
decreases, with the exception of number 4, which has 
been removed.”  The motion was seconded by Mr. 
Medina. 

Mr. Sokolovic said the climate specialist positions were 
important. He said increasing walking distances is really 
concerning, and we have bene though this before.  He 
said some of our streets don’t have sidewalks and some 
are dangerous.  He said this would increase absenteeism, 
particularly in cold weather. He said this was because of 
the financial situation we find ourselves in and the 
requirement of the state and city to fund our schools. 

Mr. Sokolovic said our students are losing services, which 
will harm our children, but we have no choice but to 
eliminate due to underfunding of the city and state.  

Mr. Sokolovic said school counselors and psychosocial 
services are needed because our children have been 
traumatized throughout their lives and some are still 
suffering from the effects of Covid. He said assistant 
principals are important supports for the schools. He said 



 26 

although central office positions do not affect the 
classroom directly, it hurts our kids because there are less 
administrators doing more work.   

Mr. Sokolovic said performing and visual arts should be 
put on top to bring back because our district has always 
been starved in this area. He said some cuts were less 
devastating or easy.  He said the loss of library/media 
specialists hurt. He noted they are certified teachers and 
said this was due to state and local underfunding.   

Mr. Sokolovic said the elimination of 20 teacher positions 
will hurt children because it will mean larger class sizes.   

Mr. Sokolovic said he and his board colleagues value 
every single position and employee no matter how the 
board votes.  

In response to a question, Ms. Perez said the total number 
of positions eliminated was 125.  Mr. Nkwo said in this 
round about 26 administrator positions were being 
eliminated. Domenic Costello, chief human resource 
officer, said 18 administrators were eliminated in 
December.   

Mr. Traber said the figures indicate about 2,300 students 
are going to start walking to school. 

In response to a question, Mr. Nkwo said the assistant 
principal positions who move into the classroom will only 
save $1,000 for the first year per position, but there will be 



 27 

savings if they take the spots of long-term Kelly 
substitutes.  

Mr. Benejan Grajales said nobody thinks of the 
consequences for the parents, teachers, and students of 
the cuts.  He said he was upset because he knows the 
money is there, and we have no choice.  

Ms. Perez said she knows what Mr. Benejan Grajales 
means, but the money is not there for the board and none 
of us want to make these cuts. She said the money is in 
the city and in the state.  Mr. Benejan Grajales said he 
agreed with that, and the state has the money, and they 
know we need it. 

Ms. Cassermere said she agreed with Mr. Benejan 
Grajales, especially on increasing the walking distance. 
She said the state and the local government really needs 
to step up because we’re cutting things that will lead to 
struggling with test scores.   

In response to a question, Dr. Avery said we have racking 
our heads for months now how to present this to the 
board, including on weekends and long hours.  He said 
that we have to keep pressure up for more funding. 

Ms. Perez said when the state and the city budget are 
passed, we will come back to the table and look at cuts 
that can be brought back. 



 28 

Mr. Traber said he has to put things in terms that people 
will hear him. He said they don’t give a rat’s backside 
about our kids. He said we have to say it in short, simple 
terms; how many positions were eliminating; 2,400 
students will have to walk to school. He said his daughter 
was saved by arts when she went to Central High.  He 
said he was very passionate and angry, and just as 
committed to fighting for children. 

Mr. Medina thanked Ms. Perez for saying clearly that we 
are the ones that don’t have the funds.  He said he spoke 
with Dr. Henry during the week, and this is emotional for 
us. He said his daughters went through the arts, which is 
why he is here. He said Senator Cathy Osten said you 
can’t maximize funding when you don’t have enough to 
being with, and Bridgeport doesn’t have the funding it 
deserves or needs. 

Mr. Sokolovic said the board should establish a priority list 
at the next meeting to restore items if funding is received. 

Mr. Benejan Grajales said he gets very emotional, and 
people don’t understand the suffering of our kids. He said 
he will not give up until God tells him to stop. He said the 
board members are elected because they trust us to help 
them. He said his son was saved by Coach Sal and Mr. 
Blum at Bassick High.  

Ms. Baptiste-Perez* joined the meeting.  



 29 

The motion was approved by a 5-4 vote. Voting in favor 
were members Perez, Sokolovic, Medina, Estremera 
Jimenez, and Traber. Members Cassermere, Woodson, 
Benejan Grajales, and Baptiste-Perez were opposed. 

Mr. Sokolovic said he was voting yes due to the chronic 
underfunding by the City of Bridgeport and the State of 
Connecticut that has unfairly discriminated against our city 
and other large cities.  He said it is high time to have 
equity in education in state. 

Mr. Woodson said he voted no because there was a 
proposal by the former superintendent that would have 
saved all the jobs and helped to move us foreword, but 
people voted to get rid of her, so now we have to lay 
people off. 

Mr. Sokolovic said we were never able to avoid layoffs and 
avoid this cliff, no matter what happened; even if we made 
every single suggestion by the former superintendent, we 
would have still been $30 million the hole. He said Mr. 
Woodson should research it and please stop saying it. 

Ms. Baptiste-Perez said if the original budget plan and 
closing of schools had gone through, we wouldn’t be in 
this position now.  She said this board has mismanaged its 
funds and put itself in this position. She said she voted no 
because of fiscal mismanagement and the filature to close 
unsafe buildings, which was caused by the current 



 30 

leadership of the board.  She said she would not beg the 
state for money that we failed to use wisely.  She said the 
situation was self-inflicted. 

Mr. Traber said a false narrative has been perpetrated by 
Ms. Baptiste-Perez’s dramatic entry. He said the closing of 
schools would have saved $1.5 million and it doesn’t add 
up to $30 million. He said he voted yes because this is the 
only way we’re going to get the savings with the money we 
have allocated to us at this point.   

Ms. Perez said Mr. Rapice invited the board to the Law 
Day event on May 1st at Winthrop School.  She said the 
board was voted to the Inspiration Awards on May 8th at 
the Trumbull Marriott.  

Mr.  Sokolovic moved to adjourn the meeting.  The motion 
was seconded by Mr. Medina and unanimously approved. 

The meeting was adjourned at 11:06 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

John McLeod 

 


